1977

# Thomas J. Thorley v. William R. Thorley : Appellant's Opening Brief

Utah Supreme Court

## INTRODUCTION

This is a Will Contest proceeding arising out of the Decedent's execution of two (2) separate testamentary documents, the first a 1964 will executed in California, and the second, a will dated May 19, 1975, executed in Cedar City, Utah. The earlier California will left the Decedent's entire estate to his two (2) brothers, Thomas and Melvin Thorley, both residents of California. The Utah will executed shortly before death left the entire estate to the Decedent's third brother William R. Thorley, a resident of Utah. At the date of death, the Decedent left the vast majority of his assets in California.

For thirty (30) years prior to death, except for the last six (6) months of his life, the Decedent resided in Escondido, California. During the remaining six (6) months of his life, he lived with his brother William in the latter's residence in Cedar City, Utah until he died on December 21, 1975.

The undisputed facts of the case establish that within two (2) days the Decedent's removal from Escondido, California to Cedar City, Utah on Sunday, May 18, 1975, his brother and sole beneficiary William R. Thorley, Respondent in this action, typed a will which left everything to himself. This will was executed and witnessed the same day. On the third day, May 19, 1975, Respondent contacted an attorney, Orville Isom, attorney of record in this action, to draft a will with the same provisions and appointing himself executor. The Decedent never saw the attorney prior to the attorney's drafting the will but spoke to him briefly on the phone that same day. This will was brought

1 by the attorney and his wife to the Respondent's residence  
2 same day for the Decedent's signature.

3 The Respondent was present in the room during the entire  
4 period of time that Decedent spoke with "his attorney" and  
5 remained in the room until the Decedent executed the will.

6 At the time of his execution of the will, the Decedent was  
7 a physically weakened condition following the trip from California  
8 to Utah and was described by his physician as "weak and emaciated."  
9 Lester Thorley was also suffering from an incurable form of  
10 cancer with a limited time to live. He was in a mentally depressed  
11 state and allegedly his will became sublimated to that of  
12 Respondent.

#### 13 STATEMENT OF FACTS

14 1. The Petition for Probate was filed by Respondent in the  
15 District Court of Iron County, State of Utah, on December  
16 1975.

17 2. After a Contest to the will was first filed by Respondent  
18 in California, and on February 2, 1976, the Appellant, Thomas  
19 Thorley, filed a Contest to the Petition to Probate in Iron  
20 County.

21 3. On or about October 4, 1976, Thomas J. Thorley filed  
22 Contest after Probate and the Appellant pursued this litigation  
23 for over a year thereafter, conducting discovery, taking depositions,  
24 in anticipation of trial. Designation of Record, page 2.

25 4. On November 10, 1976, a Motion was made by Respondent  
26 to have a preliminary trial on issue of domicile. (Designation  
27 Record on Appeal, Page 2 ).



1        5. On November 19, 1976, a Demand for Jury Trial on all  
2 issues was made and filed in the District Court. (Designation  
3 of Record on Appeal, Page 3, . See, P & As (Page 5).

4        6. On the 23rd day of November, 1975, a Motion to Stay  
5 Proceedings or, in the alternative, for a Change of Venue and  
6 a Motion to have the matter of domicile resolved by way of  
7 trial by jury was filed in the District Court by the Appellant.  
8 Points and Authorities in Support of this latter motion was  
9 filed on or about December 15, 1976. (Designation of Record on  
10 Appeal, Page 9 ).

11        These Motions were subsequently taken off calendar (Designa-  
12 tion of Record on Appeal, Page 34) and continued until finally  
13 set down for hearing on March 8, 1977, to be immediately fol-  
14 lowed by a trial on the merits. (Designation of Record on Appeal,  
15 Page 9, 10).

16        Notice of this Motion and of the trial, however, arrived  
17 February 28, 1976, less than ten (10) days before the trial  
18 and a Motion for Continuance was filed. (Designation of Record  
19 on Appeal, Page 11).

20        7. On March 8, 1977, counsel for Appellant appeared as  
21 ordered for a hearing on the Motions only to find a Pro Tem  
22 Judge unwilling to consider the matters previously set. The  
23 matters were thereafter rescheduled for hearing on May 23,  
24 1977, to be immediately followed by trial on the merits.  
25 (Designation of Record on Appeal, Page 12). Notice of this  
26 trial date indicates that an advisory jury only would be  
selected to hear the matter of domicile. This notice was mailed

the 29th day of March, 1977, affording counsel almost thirty days notice.

8. On May 23, 1977, the motion for a trial by jury as opposed to an advisory jury on the domicile issue was heard and denied. After a four (4) day trial, the jury returned the Special Interrogatories and the Court entered its Order that the Decedent was domiciled in the State of Utah on the date of his death. (Designation of Record on Appeal, Pages 17-18).

9. After the trial on domicile and on May 27, 1977, a trial on the merits was taken off calendar when the District Court became aware that its failure to admonish the jurors had resulted in certain jurors discussing the issues amongst themselves. No trial date was set at that time by the District Court and counsel was advised that an appropriate trial notice would be mailed out in due course.

10. On or about June 7, 1977, Points and Authorities were filed in Support of Change of Venue Motion (Designation of Record on Appeal, Page 15) based on certain matters that had developed as a result of the previous trial.

11. On or about June 17, 1977, a Petition for Intermediate Appeal was filed in the Supreme Court to request review of the denial of pre-trial Motions. (Designation of Record on Appeal, Pages 19-20).

12. On June 17, 1977, eleven (11) days before the date set for trial, Notice was mailed out by the District Court advising that on June 28, 1977, the trial on the merits of the Will Contest would be heard. (Designation of Record on Appeal,

21). This Notice was received on June 20, 1977, eight (8) days before trial. Prior to that and on June 13, 1977, California counsel was advised by telephone through Utah co-counsel Mr. Michael Park of the Court's Order.

13. On the day before trial, June 27, 1977, the Utah Supreme Court denied the Appellant's Petition. (Designation of Record on Appeal, Page 22).

14. On June 28, 1977, pursuant to the Court's Order, the Appellant appeared by counsel in the District Court. At that time, a request was made that the Court, in view of recently discovered facts resulting from the former trial, change venue on the strong probability that local bias and prejudice existing in favor of Respondent William R. Thorley would prevent a fair trial.

15. In addition, a Motion for a short two-week continuance of the trial date was made so as to allow counsel in view of the brief trial notice received and the particular need for time, to arrange each of the witnesses from the State of California to be present in Iron County, Utah to testify. These witnesses totalled at least seven (7).

16. The Motion for Continuance was also based on the Supreme Court's denial of the Petition for an Intermediate Appeal the day before. (Designation of Record on Appeal, Page 22.) If granted, the Interlocutory Appeal would not only have stayed the trial court proceedings, but would also have alleviated the expense and necessity of producing the witnesses outlined above. The Motion for Continuance along with the Motion for

1 Change of Venue was denied and the Appellant ordered to go  
2 forward with the trial by order of the Court on June 28, 1977  
3 (Designation of Record on Appeal, Page 23).

4 17. Without the availability of witnesses and with the  
5 burden of going forward, the Appellant herein respectfully  
6 advised the Court that it had no choice but to withdraw entirely  
7 from any further proceedings.

8 18. On June 29, 1977, in an uncontested proceeding, the  
9 Court admitted the will to Probate and dismissed the Contest  
10 entering Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (Designation  
11 of Record on Appeal, Page 24).

#### 12 ARGUMENT

##### 13 I

14 THE FAILURE OF THE DISTRICT COURT TO  
15 GRANT A TWO-WEEK CONTINUANCE OF THE  
16 TRIAL DATE RESULTED IN A DEPRIVATION  
OF THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS  
AND AMOUNTED TO AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

17 The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution  
18 Section 1, and Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution  
19 provides that judicial power must be exercised in conformance with  
20 due process of law. "No person shall be deprived of life,  
21 liberty, or property, without due process of law."

22 As stated by the Court in Jensen v. Union Pacific Ry. Co.  
23 Utah 253, 21 P. 994, due process of law comes from the Great  
24 Charter and is synonymous with "law of the land". It means  
25 a party shall have his day in court.

26 In the Christiansen v. Harris case, 109 U. 1, 163 P. 23  
27 the Court set forth the essentials of due process as, inter alia,

1 an inquiry into the merits of the question by a competent body,  
2 notice to the person and the time at which such person should  
3 appear, and fair opportunity to submit evidence and cross-  
4 examine witnesses. Each of these means, which have as their  
5 purpose, according to the Court, the protection and enforcement  
6 of human rights, have the same basic requirements, whether the  
7 case involves a criminal or civil proceeding.

8 The words, "life, liberty, and property" as embraced within  
9 the due process clause are to be taken in their broadest sense  
10 as indicative of the three (3) great subdivisions of all civil  
11 rights. McGrew v. Industrial Comm., 96 U. 203, 85 P. 2d 608.  
12 Thus, "property" is the right of any person to possess, use,  
13 enjoy or dispose of a thing, and embraces all valuable interests  
14 which a man may possess outside of himself. It is not confined  
15 to mere tangibles, but extends to every species of vested right.  
16 McGrew v. Ind. Comm., *supra*.

17 In this case, the Appellant, Contestant below, is heir to  
18 the Estate of Lester R. Thorley and has by virtue of this interest  
19 the right to a portion of the assets of the Estate in the event  
20 he is able to prove the allegations of his Contest and thereby  
21 declare the later Utah will invalid. It is a right which  
22 therefore demands the rigors of due process.

23 While a trial court is apparently imbued with discretion to  
24 manage its trial calendar and docket cases for trial, it may not  
25 abuse that discretion where the facts plainly show that, despite  
26 due diligence exercised by counsel for Appellant, the notice of  
trial was insufficient to make the necessary arrangements. As

(714) 236-1551

indicated above, the District Court on May 27, 1977 took off calendar its scheduled trial on the merits with the assurance that reasonable notice would be afforded of the new trial date.

The Court was well aware at that time, by virtue of a previous four-day jury trial involving much of the same testimony that would support a trial on the merits, that the whole prosecution was based on witnesses that would have to be transported from southern California to southern Utah, a journey which takes a minimum eight (8) hour automobile drive or an almost equally gruelling airline schedule with no direct flight into Parowan or Cedar City, Utah from San Diego, California.

These witnesses included among others, the Decedent's long-time treating physician practicing in San Diego, one psychiatric expert also practicing in San Diego, two lay witnesses residing in North San Diego County who had contact with the Decedent shortly before he moved to Cedar City with Respondent and the Contestant and his immediate family, including his wife Claire Thorley, who was and still is suffering from a severe crippling case of rheumatoid arthritis and who because of such a problem, would need additional time to consult with a physician to obtain necessary medications, and recuperate from her previous journey to Cedar City during the week long trial ending May 1977.

All that was requested of the trial court was two (2) weeks to make these necessary arrangements. Prior to trial, counsel for Appellant had taken the precaution of deposing each of the witnesses, except his own expert in the event of their unavailability.

1 ability. But this Court is well familiar with the loss of effective-  
2 tiveness generated by reading a deposition transcript to the  
3 jury. See Beiras v. Johnson, 13 U. 2d 269, 383 P. 2d 375, 378  
4 (1969).

5 This request by Appellant was precipitated in part by a  
6 written notice from the Court mailed to counsel on June 17, 1977  
7 only eleven (11) days before the date assigned for trial, June 28,  
8 1977. Verbal notice was received on June 13, 1977 but again this  
9 was not sufficient time to make all the necessary arrangements.

10 The requested continuance was also based on the fact that  
11 Appellant was still awaiting the decision of the Supreme Court  
12 on a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal which was filed with the  
13 Supreme Court on June 17, 1977. If granted, the Order would have  
14 stayed the trial court proceedings. The Petition was filed from  
15 the Court's Orders of May 27, 1977 denying a right to trial by  
16 jury and denying change of venue. The decision denying the  
17 Petition was not rendered until the day before trial was to  
18 commence, or on June 27, 1977.

19 This Notice of trial was particularly surprising to counsel  
20 for Appellant in view of the previous trial notice which gave  
21 almost thirty (30) days to make necessary arrangements. This was  
22 the notice referred to in Paragraph 7 of the "Statement of Facts"  
23 above.

24 The Motion for Continuance also advised the Court of pending  
25 litigation in the State of California and of that Court's recent,  
26 June 27, 1977 decision removing a prior Stay Order, finding that  
the District Court of Iron County had indeed failed to accord the

1 Appellant minimum due process.

2 Despite what has been summarized above, the trial court  
3 the motion and ordered the case to proceed to trial, witness  
4 or not. Inasmuch as the Appellant had the burden of going  
5 forward with the evidence, it was left with no alternative  
6 to withdraw in silent resignation to the Court's decree.

7 In Bieras v. Johnson, 13 U. 2d 269, 372 P. 2d 375 (1962),  
8 Court held the trial court abused its discretion in failing  
9 accord plaintiff's counsel a five-week continuance despite the  
10 Court's recognition that "some hardship [would have resulted]  
11 the Defendants and others, . . ." (Id at 378). In so finding  
12 Court held that the relative significance of these facts did  
13 overshadow the potential loss to the Plaintiff who was unable  
14 attend due to medical incapacity.

15 Just as the Court in Beiras found the Plaintiff's testimony  
16 to be essential to the case there are equally compelling reasons  
17 in a more complicated will contest proceeding for affording the  
18 opportunity to produce the testimony of Appellant's out-of-state  
19 witnesses.

20 Thus, it is a well known fact that the Decedent was a reclusive  
21 living a miserly existence while at all times firecey proclaiming  
22 ing his independence. The only people he had contact with in  
23 California immediately before his removal were his treating  
24 physician, Dr. Warren Jacobs, his brother and Appellant, Thorley  
25 Thorley, Appellant's wife, Claire Thorley, Thomas Thorley,  
26 the Decedent's residence home manager, Mrs. Patricia Cook,  
27 Decedent's trailer park manager, Mr. Robert Oscar Charron.



1 The Decedent had no immediate family, was never married, was  
2 retired and aged, 81 years, and never associated with or be-  
3 friended anyone aside from those above-mentioned while he resided  
4 in Escondido, California.

5 As such, their testimony concerning his physical and mental  
6 status are vitally important. Coupled with the Supreme Court's  
7 rejection the previous day of the Intermediate Appeal, and the  
8 difficulties of arranging to transport these witnesses from  
9 California on such brief notice, called for the Court's exercise  
10 of its discretion to grant the brief two-week continuance as  
11 requested. No prejudice inured to Respondent as a result of this  
12 brief delay.

II

13 THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CHANGE  
14 THE PLACE OF TRIAL WHERE A STRONG  
15 PROBABILITY OF JURY BIAS AND PREJUDICE  
EXISTED IN FAVOR OF THE RESPONDENT.

16 On or about June 10, 1977, Points and Authorities in Support  
17 of a Motion to Change Venue or the place of trial was filed in  
18 the District Court, a true and correct copy of that has been  
19 designated on Page 57 of the Designation of Record on Appeal.

20 The Utah Judicial Code §78-13-9 provides the grounds upon  
21 which this Motion may be granted. In relevant part that statute  
22 provides:

23 "The court may, on motion, change the place of  
24 trial in the following cases:

25 . . . (2) When there is reason to believe that an  
26 impartial trial cannot be had in the county, city  
or precinct designated in the complaint.

(3) When. . . the ends of justice would be pro-  
moted by the change. . . ."

1 In Anderson v. Johnson, 268 P. 2d 427 (Utah 1954), the  
2 held that the change of venue statute should be liberally  
3 construed particularly when it concerns the right to a fair and  
4 impartial trial. Thus the Court held:

5 "The authority of a court to order a change of  
6 place of trial existed as common law as part of  
7 its inherent power to insure a fair and impartial  
8 trial in dispensing justice . . . In extension of  
9 these principals, most states including ours, have  
10 provided statutes which should be liberally con-  
11 strued to attain their objects. 268 P. 2d 430."

12 In further defining the right to a fair and impartial tri-  
13 the Court in Anderson held:

14 "All laws have to do with the removal of action  
15 from one local jurisdiction to another for a  
16 trial have one definite purpose, that is to pro-  
17 mote justice by avoiding local matters of a pre-  
18 judicial nature that might be detrimental to the  
19 rights of one of the parties. (Emphasis added)  
20 268 P. 2d at 430."

21 The Utah statute as indicated in the compiler's note to  
22 Section 78-13-9, is identical with the California statute, Cal.  
23 of Civil Procedure §397. In City of Los Angeles v. Pacific  
24 & Tel. Co., 164 Cal. App. 2d 253 (1958), the Court of Appeal  
25 in California expressed its rationale for employment of the tri-  
26 of the statute under similar circumstances:

27 " . . . The evident purpose is to guard against  
local prejudices which sometimes exist in favor  
of litigants within a county as against those  
from without and to secure to both parties to a  
suit a trial upon a neutral ground. . . . Obviously,  
if both parties, whether a defendant be an indi-  
vidual or a corporation, are 'within' the same  
county either as a resident or doing business  
therein 'local prejudice' or biases are not like-  
ly to exist; and if in a given case there is a  
probability that a disadvantage will result,  
defendant is entitled to invoke the remedy under  
section 397, Code of Civil Procedure, which

1 provides for a change of venue upon the ground of  
2 inability to obtain a fair trial." Id at 257.

3 This Motion, along with the Motion for a two-week continu-  
4 ance, came on for hearing on June 28, 1977. The Court at that  
5 hearing was apprised of three (3) affidavits which for want of  
6 time were not available at the time of the hearing. Nevertheless,  
7 an offer of proof was made as to the contents of each of those  
8 affidavits on the record and the Court, after hearing the same,  
9 ruled that the affidavits may be filed belatedly but that he was  
10 not convinced, based upon the contents of those affidavits, or in  
11 any other matters presented at the time of the hearing, that  
12 there was sufficient basis upon which to invoke the change of  
13 venue statute.

14 These affidavits have been designated in the Appellant's  
15 Record on Appeal on Page 72.<sup>1</sup> Of particular interest is the  
16 affidavit of one Ion Bonzo, a former juror in the May trial on the  
17 issue of domicile. Mrs. Bonzo had the benefit of four (4) days  
18 of trial and numerous hours of deliberations before the verdict  
19 was reached. This trial was held only one (1) month before this  
20 Motion was made and the matters therein reflected in her affidavit  
21 show without doubt the substantial prejudice inuring to the detri-  
22 ment of the Appellant as an "outsider", a California domiciliary  
23 to the benefit of the Respondent, a leading figure in the small  
24 community from which the jury was polled, drawn, and ultimately  
25 selected.

26 Mrs. Bonzo in part testifies in her affidavit as follows:

27 / / / / Ftnt. 1. Although those affidavits were stricken from the  
record by the District Court, they were reinstated by Order of the  
Supreme Court dated December 5, 1977, upon motion of Appellant.

"Although at the start, I honestly felt that matters of local prejudice and bias as to Mr. WILLIAM R. THORLEY and his well-known and recognized name and position in this community could be set aside, nevertheless, and now considering what has gone before me in the trial and the jury deliberations, that this was an almost impossible task. During our deliberations, for example, matters which were not introduced by the attorneys through their witnesses or documents became a part of those deliberations, particularly, the aspects of wealth and reputation of WILLIAM R. THORLEY.

. . . I am totally convinced that an impartial trial would in all probability be obtained only in a county other than Iron County, Utah, which draws its jurors from Cedar City."

What could be a greater testament to the veracity of the allegations of bias and prejudice raised in the moving papers before the trial court than an affidavit of a former juror, a person who, by the way, has absolutely no interest in the suit litigation but who as a part of her civic duty and pride came forward at the last minute to attempt to prevent a similar injustice from reoccurring.

Next, consider the affidavit of Ada Thorley, the wife of Decedent's brother and sister-in-law of each of the parties to this Appeal and to the action below. Mrs. Thorley has resided in Cedar City continuously for the past fifty (50) years and is well familiar with both of the parties to this action. Mrs. Thorley testifies in relevant part:

"WILLIAM THORLEY is married to Bardella Thorley and together they have raised five children, four boys and a girl all of whom now, except one, make their home in Cedar City, Utah . . .

WILLIAM THORLEY is a member and elder in the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints in Cedar City, Utah. . . .

1 Bill is and has been for some time, a member  
2 of the board of directors of the State Bank  
3 of Southern Utah, one of the three major  
4 banks in town.

5 Bill also owns and operates the Thorley Cattle  
6 Company, a company engaged in the cattle and  
7 sheep business, one of southern Utah's primary  
8 industries.

9 Bill is in his own right a man of wealth and  
10 is known as such by most adult members of this  
11 community . . . and he is held in high esteem  
12 and respect by most.

13 THOMAS J. THORLEY, on the other hand . . . is  
14 not known in this community, does not reside  
15 here, and does not and has not worked in this  
16 community."

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