1978

Thomas J. Thorley v. William R. Thorley : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT IN REFUSING A FURTHER CONTINUANCE OF THE TRIAL SETTING.

The many settings of this case below, totalling eight and the many continuances have been set forth in the Statement of Facts to show there was no abuse of discretion in refusing a Ninth continuance. All these different settings and continuances are set forth in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered June 29, 1977(No. 10 of Respondent's Designation of Record.)

It is little wonder that the Court on June 28, 1977 refused another two week continuance. In fact it would have been an abuse of discretion for the Court to have done so. The setting for June 28, 1977 was the eighth setting and 27 days notice was given, not ten or less as Appellant now claims. Claims of the Appellant that he needed this additional time to arrange for his witnesses are ridiculous in the light of the many prior settings for which the witnesses should have been ready. Claims of the Appellant that he did not have sufficient time because this Court did not rule on his petition for Interlocutory Appeal until June 27th are without merit. The domiciliary trial had concluded on May 28th and yet Appellant waited until June 17, 1977 to file his petition for Interlocutory Appeal. He gives no reason why he could not have taken this sooner. Interlocutory Appeals under our practice are not as a matter of right

and are sparingly given. The hope that this Court would entertain this appeal could only have been a false hope or faint one at best and for Appellant to now say that he was not ready to try the case because of his petition for Interlocutory Appeal is a weak excuse at best. Interlocutory Appeals in Utah are only granted where there is a decisive issue presented which could lay to rest the entire case without the necessity for a trial as pointed out in *Manwill vs. Oyler*, 361 Pac.2d 177 (Ut). In fact Rule 72(b) providing for Interlocutory Appeals provides that substantial rights must be involved which will materially affect the decision. The fact that this Court did refuse to entertain the Interlocutory Appeal shows that the matters appealed were not considered decisive. Appellant sought to have reviewed three Orders of the trial court, (1) Refusal to stay proceedings on the ground of Comity and Forum Non Conveniens and defer to the Superior Court of San Diego County California, (2) Refusal to change the venue and (3) Refusal to order a psychiatric examination of the Proponent of the Will, the Respondent herein. It is submitted that none of these had merit even for a final appeal, let alone an Interlocutory appeal. As to (1), an Iron County jury had already found that domicile of the decedent was Cedar City, Utah and for the lower court to have issued a Stay order of the proceedings below and deferred to the Superior Court of San Diego County would have been not only a serious abuse of discretion, it would have been out-right error. As to (2) a change of venue on the showing made was not called for and as particularly set forth in the brief hereafter. Furthermore, a

of venue is a discretionary matter and it most certainly would not be a decisive matter anyway which this court would entertain on Interlocutory Appeal. As to (3), the refusal to order a psychiatric examination of the Proponent of the Will most certainly was proper under Rule 35(a) of our Rules of Procedure which provides in pertinent part "when the mental or physical conditionof a party is in controversy, the court in which the action is pending may order the party to submit to a physical or mental examination by a physician....." But the mental and physical condition of the Proponent of the will, William R. Thorley, was never in controversy. True the mental condition of the decedent was at issue and in controversy but not the proponent of the will. Furthermore, under the Utah case of Stone vs. Stone, 431 Pac.2d 802, this is a discretionary matter and there was no merit to this point on appeal, final or Interlocutory.

It was a mis-placed hope that this Court would grant the Interlocutory Appeal and the Appellant should have been ready to try the case in any event.

As stated above, the setting for June 28, 1977 was actually made on June 1, 1977 and counsel for Appellant notified. No motion for a continuance was filed but only an oral motion made on the day set for trial. Rule 40(b) of our Rules of Procedure provides that "Upon motion of a party, the Court may in its discretion....postpone a trial or proceeding upon good cause shown." In First Security Bank vs. Johnson, 540 Pac.2d 521(Utah) the case had been procedurally

delayed for two and half years by interrogatories and various motions and this Court held that a motion for continuance filed nine days before the trial setting, did not justify a continuance. From this short opinion, it would indicate that the long series of delays, motions, interrogatories and rulings is somewhat comparable to the record in this case. Furthermore, Appellant admits in his brief that he had depositions of all his witnesses, except possibly one expert witness and there should have been no difficulty getting this testimony from his California witnesses received. Appellant cites the Utah case of Bairas vs. Johnson, 373 Pac. 2d 375 in support of his motion for a continuance but this case is of no help as in that case the plaintiff, who was an indispensable witness himself, did not know until two days before the trial setting that his health would prevent him from attending trial and the Court held that under these conditions, a continuance should have been granted.

POINT II

THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A CHANGE OF VENUE.

On or about June 10, 1977 and after the domiciliary trial, the Appellant filed a motion for a change of venue, supported by Points and Authorities. The claim was that the Respondent heretofore was prominent, was well known in the community, had many financial connections and was a life time resident, whereas the Contestant was a resident of California although born and raised in Cedar Rapids, Iowa. The Appellant claimed that a jury would probably be influenced to the point of bias in his favor. The Court denied the motion to change the venue on

June 28, 1977 and on June 29th entered the final decree in this case. Some time afterward, the Appellant secured and filed in the lower court three affidavits in support of the motion for a change of venue but which motion had already been denied, one from an Ione Bonzo, one from Ada W. Thorley and one from a John Rowberry. These affidavits were not on file and were not considered by the Court below when ruling upon the motion for a change of venue. However, when the Appellant filed his designation of Record below, he also filed these affidavits and included them in his Designation of Record. However, the court below made an express Order on September 15, 1977(Supplemental Record on Appeal) excluding these affidavits from the Record on Appeal for the reason they had not been filed so they could be considered by the lower court in its considerations of the motion for a change of venue. Therefore, we have a situation where nothing but the motion and points and authorities was submitted in support of the motion for a change of venue. Under the ruling of this court in C. R. Owens Trucking Corp. vs. Stewart, 509 Pac.2d 821(Utah) the court was not obliged to change the venue based only upon the assertion that the other party would be well known to jurors in the county, particularly where the court in the jury selection process excluded any one indicating any bias or prejudice . It is submitted the Court could have done the same in this case.

But even if the motion for a change of venue had been supported by the claimed affidavits, this court has ruled that prominence of or acquaintance with a party does not amount to such bias

that gives "reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had in the county, city or precinct designated in the complaint" to use the language of Section 78-13-9 Utah Code, pertaining to causes for change of venue. The Utah case of Chamblee vs. Stock & Tibbetts, 344 Pac. 2d 980 held that it was not an abuse of discretion to deny a change of venue based on the fact that the defendant was an elected official, that he was a member of one of the oldest families in the county and that he had many friends in the county. This court in the Chamblee case stated as follows:

"It would not be consonant with our traditional judicial procedures or complimentary to our jury system to deny a man trial by his neighbors because he happens to be an official and had friends and relatives in the community."

Likewise, the Owens Trucking case, supra, held that the reputation of or acquaintance with a party was not ground for a change of venue. Also in the Bairis case, supra, one of the parties had filed a motion for a change of venue based upon a petition signed by a number of local residents to the effect that many people in the community had formed an opinion on a vital fact and that it would be difficult to get a fair and impartial trial but this Court held that the lower court did not abuse its discretion by denying the change. This Court further stated that change of venue was a discretionary matter and that there would have to be an abuse of that discretion before this Court would over-turn the lower court. Also the case of Winters vs. Turner, 278 Pac. 816 (Utah) held that change of venue was a discretionary matter and an abuse would have to be shown. Since this is the law and the lower Court has

nothing in the way of affidavits or evidence, how could it now be said that the lower court abused its discretion? For the Supreme Court to do so it must give weight and consideration and credence to matters which were not even before the lower court.

POINT III

THE JURY TRIAL HELD BELOW ON THE QUESTION OF DOMICILE ACCORDED APPELLANT ALL RIGHTS TO WHICH HE WAS ENTITLED.

In the Appellant's Notice of Appeal, he states he is appealing from (1) the Order of the lower court refusing to stay the proceedings or in the alternative, refusal to change the venue and (2) Failure to grant a two week continuance of the trial and (3) the final Decree and Findings and Conclusions of June 29, 1977. He mentioned nothing about Point III in Appellant's brief wherein he now complains that the court below should have granted a regular jury trial on the question of domicile and not an advisory jury. It should be noted that the Appellant is not appealing this domiciliary trial and there is no transcript of this four day jury trial. This matter was concluded June 3, 1977 by the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment which were never appealed and are now final. But the Appellant is now attempting to attack these findings through the "back door" by claiming that he was not granted a jury trial but only an advisory jury. It is true that when the Court originally granted the jury trial on the question of domicile, he called for an advisory jury, presumably on the ground that the Court considered this was a jurisdictional matter to be found by the court. However, it is clear from the proceedings

below, (Supplemental Record, Transc. of the May 23, 1977 proceedings) that the court at least treated the jury as a regular jury and not an advisory jury. From this transcript of these proceedings, the trial judge made it clear that the Appellant was getting what he had asked for, a jury to find upon the question of domicile or residence of the decedent, upon full and complete instructions. The Findings and conclusions and Judgment (Nos. 17 and 18 of Appellant's Designation of Record) show that the matter was submitted to the jury on special interrogatories upon which the jury found domicile to be in Iron County. It is submitted that since they made this finding, it would make no difference whether they were acting as an advisory jury or as a regular jury.

Furthermore, the trial judge accepted the jury finding and entered judgment pursuant therewith. The only difference between a regular jury and an advisory jury is that the court need not accept their "advice" or be bound by it if the court feels the jury finding was against the evidence. But so long as the court does accept the finding of the jury, then there is no difference. If the jury had found domicile in California and yet the trial judge had felt it was against the evidence and ruled otherwise, then the Appellant would have cause to complain, but not in this case.

The Appellant at no time or place has shown or claimed that he was in any way prejudiced by trying this case to an advisory jury, if in fact it was one. He has not shown how he would have tried the case any differently or that he was deprived of any right

or that he could have tried the case any more favorably than he did. The appellant's claim that he was deprived of a valuable right just because the court initially ordered that the case be tried before an advisory jury just does not have merit.

CONCLUSION

The re-counting of the many settings and continuances, delays, motions and hearings, spanning over a period of two years, should indicate that the Appellant has never been really serious about trying this case in Iron County, Utah. As alluded to in many places in the Record, there has been a parallel probate proceeding in San Diego County, California. The reason the Appellant has never been ready or willing to try the case in Utah has been because he has been trying desperately to get the case to trial first in California. It has been a "race to judgment" situation where Appellant has been extremely diligent in trying to get the case to trial in California and yet has used every device, delay, continuance, motion, hearing and appeal and ~~excuse~~ to head off a trial in Iron County, hoping he would have a more favorable climate in San Diego County, California.

It should be abundantly clear that there is no merit to this appeal. The lower court could well have despaired at ever getting this case tried and concluded. After the many continuances granted, there was no abuse of discretion in the refusal to grant a ninth continuance, particularly where the Appellant had had more than ample notice of the ~~last trial setting~~ and did not even move for

a continuance until the morning the trial was to commence. The last continuance granted was for the purpose of giving Appellant time to arrange to have his witnesses present and prepare for trial and to take an Interlocutory Appeal. Therefore, he had time to be ready and he also took his Interlocutory appeal.